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July 1, 2021 
 
 
The Honorable Merrick Garland   The Honorable Christopher Wray 
Attorney General      Director 
United States Department of Justice   Federal Bureau of Investigation 
950 Pennsylvania Avenue, N.W.   935 Pennsylvania Avenue, N.W. 
Washington, D.C. 20530    Washington, D.C. 20535 
 
 
Dear Attorney General Garland and Director Wray: 
 

We write again concerning the decision by the Department of Justice (DOJ) and Federal 
Bureau of Investigation (FBI), under the previous Administration, to invoke the “state secrets 
privilege” in litigation brought by victims of the terrorist attacks of September 11, 2001. For 
years, these survivors and family members have sought information from the DOJ and, in 
particular, the FBI, which has been withheld, purportedly for national security reasons. 
Unfortunately, in fact, the reasons for continued concealment of this potentially critical evidence 
have never been credibly or adequately explained.   

 
As we have noted previously, on September 11, 2019, then-President Trump made a 

promise to the survivors and families that DOJ would disclose documents relevant to the case. 
Yet, the next day, then-Attorney General William Barr invoked the state secrets privilege to 
prevent the release of the very documents and information that the then-President vowed to 
disclose.1 
 

The 9/11 families—many of whom we are honored to represent in Congress—have 
fought relentlessly for justice and to hold accountable all associated with the worst terrorist 
attack ever committed on American soil. We are now less than three months away from the 
twentieth anniversary of the 9/11 attacks. The lengthy passage of time since the attacks creates 
powerful questions about the need for continued classification of documents and the ongoing 
withholding of related information.   
 

A fair day in court for these brave 9/11 families requires access to evidence. Their case 
and this cause is about truth, justice, and accountability. DOJ must not gratuitously stand in their 
way. If there is any credible reason to withhold facts, testimony, and documents concerning the 
attacks and the FBI’s handling of subsequent investigations twenty years after 9/11, the 
American people deserve to know it.   
 

                                                           
1 See Tim Golden and Sebastian Rotella, The Saudi Connection: Inside the 9/11 Case That Divided the F.B.I., N.Y. 
TIMES (Jan. 23, 2020), https://www.nytimes.com/2020/01/23/magazine/9-11-saudi-arabia-fbi.html.  

https://www.nytimes.com/2020/01/23/magazine/9-11-saudi-arabia-fbi.html
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In previous appearances before the Senate Judiciary Committee,2 you have both 
committed to review the situation in an effort to make documents and information available to 
the families to the greatest extent possible. As yet, however, there has been no tangible progress 
and we received no response to several additional letters on this issue. We again urge you to 
review past decisions to invoke the state secrets privilege and to meet with representatives of the 
families. We request a response to this letter no later than July 14, 2021. Thank you for your 
prompt consideration. 

 
Sincerely, 

 
 
 
 

  
__________________________________  __________________________________ 
RICHARD BLUMENTHAL   KIRSTEN GILLIBRAND 
United States Senate     United States Senate 

 
 
 

  
__________________________________   
ROBERT MENENDEZ   
United States Senate      
 

                                                           
2 The Nomination of the Honorable Merrick Brian Garland to be Attorney General of the United States: Day 1, 
Hearing before the Senate Judiciary Committee, 117th Cong. (Feb. 22, 2021), available at 
https://www.judiciary.senate.gov/meetings/the-nomination-of-the-honorable-merrick-brian-garland-to-be-attorney-
general-of-the-united-states-day-1; Oversight of the Federal Bureau of Investigation, Hearing before the Senate 
Judiciary Committee, 116th Cong. (July 23, 2019), available at 
https://www.judiciary.senate.gov/meetings/07/23/2019/oversight-of-the-federal-bureau-of-investigation.  

https://www.judiciary.senate.gov/meetings/the-nomination-of-the-honorable-merrick-brian-garland-to-be-attorney-general-of-the-united-states-day-1
https://www.judiciary.senate.gov/meetings/the-nomination-of-the-honorable-merrick-brian-garland-to-be-attorney-general-of-the-united-states-day-1
https://www.judiciary.senate.gov/meetings/07/23/2019/oversight-of-the-federal-bureau-of-investigation

